by J. E. PETERSON

herlock Holmes might have called it

The Case of The Missing Milestones,

" The Plainville Historical Society is
somewhat less formal about it than the
famous detective would have been but
just as persistent.

To date, the society, still less than one
year old, "has located two of Plainville's
150-year-old mile markers and is scout-
ing around for the third, :

The 14-mile marker is back in place on
Iast- Street—part of the old Hartford-
New Haven Turnpike which was laid ont

in 169¢. The 13-mile marker has been re- |

covered and will be replaced as soon as
‘the ground thaws at Blossom’s Corner,
the busy intersection of Routes 16 and 72.

Yet to be tracked down is the 1%
mile marker.

The ancient, brownstone monuments

are survivors of a series of milestones

which once stood at regular intervals

_down a road which was already old when

‘Rochambean’s troops tramped along it -

on their way to help defeat Lord Corn-
wallis at Yorktown.

- These stones were erected by the var. .
ious towns along the way a few years -

after adoption in 1796 of a state statute
“obliging the several tdwns on the post
road to erect monuments showing. the
distance from the several county towns
on said road.”

The same act provided a $7 fine for
towns which did not erect milestones ani
a similar fine for persons convicted of
pulling them down or defacing them.

, Law or no law, few milestones
were placed on Connecticut turnpikes
after 1820. They were too expensive,

And fine or ne fine, many of the old
stones disappeared over the years,

The brownstone markers were origi-

nally two feet high and a foot wide. They
bore the letters H-—for Hartford—and M
—for miles—and a Roman numeral indi-
cating -the distance from that point to
Hartford.
" Members of the Plainville Historical
Society spotted the 12-mile marker last
fall by checking at mile intervals from
an existing milestone in Farmingfon,
Broken -and fumbled over, the 12-mile
stone was half covered with earth and
grass,

. Subsequently, the Connecticut
State Highway Department replaced the
top half of this stone so that if is once
again visible from the busy College High-
way.

" Pablicity in the Plainville News some
weeks Iater caused Russell Stilwell, pro-

prietor of the Sherwood Service station,'

" exactly one mile up the road, to get in
touch with Mrs. Robert Hummel presx-
dent of the historical society.

“I've got one of those stones,” he sald
“holding up a trailer.”

Some snow shoveling by Stilwell, some
straining by two of his employes and a
good wash job with a hose revealed that

indeed he did have one of those stones, It =

was the 13-mile marker in almost perfect
shape.-

The 12-mile marker stood as late
- as 1959 at the intersection Rt. 10-and Bei- -

sey Road. Soon after that it vanished,

At about that fime the grade on adjoin-

ing property was being changed-as a
preliminary for commercial develop-

.—.ment.-Some-say-the stone was taken into-

safekeeping by the State Highway De-
partment with the understanding that it
was to be returned when the grading
‘was ‘done.

But to an inquiry, J. D’Aquila, district
engineer, replied, . . . we have checked
our storage areas and Have interviewed
personnel who might have information
about the marker which was removed at
Betsey Road and Rt 1(3 mthout sue-
cess.’

Plainville is not the only town in
which the milesiones have suffered in-
dignities. Few, if any, remain south of
Plainville’s recently restored 14-mile

This stone marks eight miles at Farming-
- ton Avenue and Wolf Pit Roa& in Farm.
ington.

izl o]

Russell Stilwell, a service sta-

tion owner, found this 13-

mile marker. being used to

prop up a trailer. In earlier

day it stood ‘at the infersec.

tion of Routes 10 and i2in
" Plainviile.

marker as the traveler crosses Southing-
ton.

At least two markews are left in Chesh-
ire, one of which is now on the opposite
side of the highway from where it origi-
nally stood. One, and possibly more, of
the old monuments are still on the jOb in
Hamden.

Of all the towns along the old turnpike,..
Farmington refains the largest number
—four--of the stones,

The 11-mile marker, either broken or
half buried, stands at the edge of a hill-
side housing development. The 10-mile
marker is in mint condition and occupies
a prominent spot in front of a fence as
you enter Farmington Village,

A.t the oppsite end of this splendid,
old, main street is the next milestone,
now only half ity original height--Farm-
ington's fourth and final marker is found
at the intersection of Wolf Pit Road. 1t is
in good condition.

The only remaining milestone between
the 8-mile marker at Wolf Pit Road and
the Hartford City line is the 4-mile stone

.which stands at the intersection of Farm-

ington Avenue and Four Mile Road in
West Hartford.

Barring major disaster, it should
remain at this spot for years to come be-
cause it is well protected by a pipe
frame built completely around it.

As historical-minded citizens in Plain-
ville search for their final, missing mile- -
stone they hope that persons of a similar
mind will make an effort to replace
some of the other missing links in this
ancient highway chain.

“It would be nice to think,” one of
them said recently, “that these.old mile-
stones could go on ‘“‘showing” the way
for centuries to come.”

J. E. Peterson of Plainville is a
free-lance writer who keeps his eye
on the road in bis search for the un-
wsnal in Connecticut’s past.

Sunday, The Courant Magasine
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Not h, Varncheslter to Eartford. The Middle Roed-joined the Upper

artford and proceeded to Yew Haven via Berlin {outfitting depot

fo Yankee‘Pedlaré), Meriden and Wallingford. All three Fost Roads
_merged‘at Yew Hav n to form tbe trunk road to the Bowery terminus
_on lcower Manhattan Island. This is the section whlch mlght pronerly

* — s -

be called the 013 Boston Tost Road, U, S. 1.
wFrow—the day the flrﬁt’colonlal roadside stone was planted,
unﬁc this Yéar of our Lord, 1971, a very persistent legend has grown
up around the Honersble Ben Frarklin and his contributions to the
"""" Cénnecticut milestdre ch¥cnicle. For mere “than two “centuries this
.gratuitous fiction cverchadowed the true essence of the milestone
recerd arnd probably inhibited probative reseérch until 1954, In

that yesr, Ysle University bessn the collation of The Pnavers of Een

Franklin under the editership of Dr. Leonaxrd W. Lzbaree.

'a

(Note: The foilowirg passages from Professor Labaree's letter
deal only with the merits of the co-called "Franklin Myth." The

~evidence ig negetive and circumstantial, and in no way does it re-

.

flect upon the stzture of the great and good Frenklir.)

fhe followirg statement on Benjamin Frenklin and rcadside mile-

stones represents the conclusions of the editors of The Papers of

Beniemir. Frerklin con the guestion of Franklin's possible connection
with the erection of milestones on rozds aleong which mzils wvere
czrried during his tenure as deputy posimaster genersl of America.

Cn August 1€, 1752, the postmasters general in Great Britain ep-
pointed him one of two joint derputy posimasters general of America.
Fe served in this cespneity until Januwary 21, 177%, aimoest tweniy and
: 1% o LY ° ' ¥

a hali years. During L 1lirn e tenure of this office he weae in
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Americs frow 1753 until July, 1757, and from November, 1762, until
November, 1764, a totzl of only =zbout six yeafs. During the rest
of his terure he resided in Englerd as agent of the Pennsylvanis

"Ascembly, or was in occean transit. |
T T T HWe ésse;bleé Pranklin's writings, in manuveeript or in print, the
surviving letters he wrotey and those he received. These detailed
""Btudies, therefore, include all his papers written while he wag in
America prior to the outbreak of the American Revolution. . Not one
docuﬁent-in this very substan%iel mags of contemporasry documents has
—been found to contzin sc much as a single reference to roadside
milestones, erected by Frznklin or by eny other pérson.
The deruty vostmzsters general determined the specific routes
on which the postriders traveled. The Fost Cffice officisls had no

responsibiiity for the -building a£d~maintenance of these roads,

bridges or ferries. The Post foipe did not spend a penny on this
workK. &ilestones, like bridges.anﬁ other fzecilities and the roaas
themselves, wonld hzve been the resporsibility of the iocal author-

~ities, not of the postal service.

Milestores were escentially =n embellishmént, helpfui or through
roéds from ore town to enother for the privete traveler who might
not be faxiliar with the rozd he was traversing, and whe would like
to know how far he bhad come znd how far he had still to go before
- resching nis destinzticrn, and who might =also went to zseure himself
that he wés on the rizht roszd. Milestones were of no psrticulsr use

ne postriders were thoroushly fsmiliar

o
=

to the postzl service, for
i

with the rozdg they traveled.

The convenlence of other travelers, on the other hand, was not




‘eilestones,

-

the Post Offide's recpornsibility or concern. There seems to have

. o .
been no geod reason why Franklin should have spent tine, energy, or

Post Cffice money in erecting milestones, and, as stated sbove,

- there is no documentary evidence thaﬁ he ever did.

3

There are, however, longwatandln" tradltlons, especially in Kew
Envlgnd that connect E‘ran}nhn ﬂlrectlv w1th the erection of mile~-
stoneﬁ In ‘sone instances theee tredltlons can be ezsily disproved,

for they concern roadQ along which Frenklin never persecnally traveled,

or roads that ran between towrs in vhich there were no post offices

during his period of service. Cither roeds were oocz ionzlly traveled
by Frenklin himself. It is a2 giriking fsct, however, thet in his

letters 2nd pzpers written during this time he rever menticned nile-

stones.

If FPranklin did in feot erect any such milestones on the main
rozd between New York and Bozton, there could have been only one oc-
cacgion when he could hsve done got the fall of 1754, He and Hunter,
the other Joint depaty postmaster, went to Buston on Fost Office
business in Septenber, 1753, returning during the fellowing January
and Februafy, and they might cohceivably have erected milestones con
the northern journey. Such'activity on that northerun journey appears
to have been most unlikely, because.of-ﬁunter's ?bor rhysical con-
dition. Travelirg southward during Jenusry and February as they did,
during the coldest part of the yesr snd with Hunter still far from
well, they cerizirly did not conéern themselves with any project for
erecting milestones. Anyone whe‘has.éver tried to do any 5iék~and—
shovel work in the frozen ground of Tew Evgland durirg Jdanusry and

3

B [

Februnry, even when in ithe best of herlth, will understand «hy this

Bcuthbound trip muc

¥ also pe ruled out ze an Occasioh for planting
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' |The only other time during Frenklin's tenure of the office that

he went to New England was a trip with Foxcroft, Hunter's successor,

and Pranklin's daughter Sarah, June to November, 1763. It has been

said thet during the northbcund trip Franklin set up some milestcnes

on the rosd between Woodbury and Litchfield, Connecticut. But neither

town had a post office at that time, so Franklin and Foxeroft, on a

‘postal inspection trip, would hazve had no occzesicn to vieit either

town. Ecuelly imvortant ié the fact, thorcughly established by con-
temporary doccuments, that thé pérty went from New York'City to New-
port, Rhode Island, by water throuzh Leng Islerd Souhé, and never
sét foot on the scil of Connecticut. From h;s correspondénce we ¢n
construct = very deteiled day~by~ééy ifinerary of the return trip.'
The rate of travel maxesg it appesr cuite impossible th:+t the deputy
postmasters general could have taken the time to meacure the roads
and plant sfakes at which workmen, following along behind, would
erect milestones. TYowhere in the zccount are there any entries for
the purchzse or preparaticn of milestopes, for the wsges of worzZmen
who'might hzve dorne the physical work of erecting the stones, or for
the certage of the stones. It is certsin that they erected no mile-
stones during this Tew England journey of 1762.

‘Frenklin left for Englsnd the following year and when he got
back to Fhiledélpbié in the sfring of 1775, the war was on. The Con-
tinental Ccngress soon appointéd him postmaster genersl of the United
Coloniés, but then he wes sent as emissery to France in “ctober, 1776.

He h=4 no occacsicn to travel the rosds znd plert milestores, even if

43

roving bends of British soldiers or armced Loyelists hod permittied

him to travel in safletly.
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It should be clear from the above why tﬁe editors of The

Papers of Benjsmin Pranklin feel compelled to reject completely,

as conirary to 21l historical evidence, the pleasent but unsup-
-ported tredition thet‘Benjamih.Franklin, as deputy postmaster general
feor America,.ever hzd anything directly to do with the neasuring

G% distances on colonial roads or the efecfion of‘milestones ét

I

suitable pdints aiong their courses.

%

]
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So often these silent vestiges of ancther era are, themselves,
the sole witnesses to why 2nd by whom tﬁey were emplaced, and, one
‘must lock elsewhere for clues to their genesis. Any clear under-
ﬁs}éﬁﬁing of their unique history must relate to the contemperary
scene a2t the time they werd planted on their original sites.

From thre beginniﬁg in 1635, every Connecticut crossrozds village
or fown has grown up sround its own green, its own church, and ite
wry town neeting. In this "land of steady hebits," .they socn de-
veloped into self-centsined "worlds in the 1ittle;" " This indepen--
dent turn of mind wag to heve'éome significant effects on the mile-

stone story. ‘

Previcus to the Inablirg hct of 1747 of the Celonial General
Court, predecessor to the Genersl Assembly, and pficr to the advent
of the Turnpike compenieé, a "heap of stones" was the usuel indi-
cator of 2 knowﬁwdiétance, ze wé€ll 2s = guide to curves in the road.
Crude as these czirns were, nevertheless, they were objects.bf
pride to tﬁg townsfolk, znd to the strengzer tﬁey seered 28 Treassur-

ance thzt he was on a psssable rozd to scmewhere. Acceding to the
#*

demznds of the traveling public for more orderly rosd markings, the
law of 1767 wss péssed. Conditions improved even though very little
was dore z2bout it until the rush for nighwey franchises by the rewly-
orgenized Turnyike cozpanies precipitaﬁeﬁ'plantations of stones all
over the State.

The 1757 Statutle ”ofderinﬁ tﬁ&t milestones, at lezst two feet

high, te set up by ithe.3Selectimen of thé tcwns near *he side of the

o
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nnon traveling roads and on the, Post roads in every County mark-

‘ | ‘ : .
the distznce to the Ccunty towm” proved to be merely declaratory

the intent of the Generel Court sg no funds were approprizted
‘for its implementztion. The generality of the enactﬂwnt left the
f§nal deteil to local tastes and fexnc _;M, and the rule of uniform-
ity, other than the "two feet high" and the measured mile, was de-
feateé +rom the outset. LO revolutlonary and non-confortist Connec-
%iChu this was an zcceptable revulaulon. Everybody got into the act.
‘sg Qua ried markers of every size, shape, cuﬁ, and description ap-
£ ) :
y%ared zlcng the highrozds of the day. Rock was immediately at
hénd and every geologic stratum,-be it igneous (granite), metamor-
-pgic (marble), or sedimentary'(sendstepe), was used. Connecticut
sandstcne, the famous brownstone, the hellmark of early 19th century
mansions in New Yecrk, bec; e the more eulﬁable choice for the stone-
cutters. Tnla th is seen more often than marble and graniie
landnmerks, but so-czlled fieldstone was alco employed whenever the
situation warranted.
% This trznsition from the uncertain "heap of stones" to the
feguler mileétone wze undeubtedly 2 boon to the gaddle-sore horse- °
back rider, the weather-beaten stagecozch driver, and the foot-weary
1t1ne ant. It has been 1o such boon to the latter dezy recorder's
‘attenpt to reconstruct the history of these ;elics of two hundred
years as0. |
Unliké tne Golden Stone in ancient Rome, whence all rozde led,
Cenrecticut hed no single zero bench mark. The colonial market town

and the counsy seat were the hub of 2)l highreade in their district.

The third smallest siate had two capitals (New Haven and Hartford)
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ﬁntil 1575, long after the last sgries of roszdside stones had beén
put in plzce. -Hhile-these muzltiple centers exercised some influence
over the style znd cut of the stone used, the piecemeal end peri-
-patetic planting of the milesge mezrkers was not of their design.

Anyone attenpting to classify the unlque will cuickly dlccover
the unwieldy dimensions of the tssk. In his splendid pietorial
survey, "Ye Eylestones df_éonneoticuf‘(ﬁew Haven Historicai.Society‘
Papers, Volume X, 1951), the late Dr. Eenry P. Sage of New Haven
separated all the stones into three main groups aﬁcoraznw to tlme,
Colon1a1 (up to 1??5) Intermediate (1775-1795), and the Turnpike
era (1795-1825) with 2 few examples of fhe proprietary. Vinfage
'périodé have a buili-in tendeney %o o%e;lap one ancther; pernzrs z
new tack will aid delineation.

In retrospect, if 211 the origirnal 6CO stones were to be re-
clegsified and catalogued as to tﬁeir reison d'etre 2% time of
planbatién a much clearer picture of their historic evolution would
emerge. The rew hesdings would read: Colonial, Aot of 1767, Stage
Coach, Turnpike, znd Proprietary. |

The custom of erecting some form of wayside marker zlonz the
highroad =2nd on the v1llage green or commnon had 1tq ?nteceaenuu in
~ Anglo Saxon Britzin and was brouzht to the New iorld by the flr
-emigrants. The tradition flourished'brief;y'inrall thirteen colo-
.nies, buf the plantations were spotty, usually along the Post Roads,
and, except Tor Connecticut, the pfactice of systematic emplacenents
declined after the Revolution. The odd half dozen colonial étone
sczttered about the sizterzre typicsl reminders of the rural char-

acter and insulzrity of mind that dominated the early setilements.
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All the colonipl stones were placed on their original sites as the
result of some action taken by the loeczl town meeting.

At this period it was seldom that anyone had business beyond the

.purview of the village green. However, the common was not always to

be the only merketplace, since a nezarby town located on 2n access-

ible highway or post road might provide a better outlet for Tocal
| - . , D R

produce. While all community activities centered zround the vil-

lage green, some folks ventured outside to ge% to market. The new

market plzce reached the dignity of "Warket Tewn" when the village

follk indicated thelr =zcceptance of the fact by putting in a mileage

merker giving the distance to the new center. In csses where the

Mzrket Tcwn was on one of the estadlished colonizl roads, the village

ston

L¢3]

mizht give the dist=nce 1o a more remote market place, but
usually the distance inscribed on -the milestone represented the
limit ¢f local horizens. These singular landmarks were to be the
preéﬁrsors of the Connecticut milestone tradition, end the iule was
fixed then that: "He who-ordereé roadside stones set, settled for then.

In the days when the traveled highway was little more than a
single-lane trail eut through the wilderness, the issue of "To" or
"From" incised on some wayside marker was of small concern. Cn the
other hand, in ccmpliance with thé 1767 Act, the . decision of the
loczl Selectmen to put the roadside stornes on the right side of the
treveled highway had a very significent effect on the future course
of the milestone ssga. Cne mazy only speculate as to whether the

Americen traditicn of Y"keevins to the righit" was imbedded with these
nng & _

Oy

184h century rozdside sonuzente. The colloruizl "Irom," meanin

Ti11

|

&
h

o

i

merely distange, rary of the hew Dnglsng dialect, but it
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lacks a sense ©of direction, and, therefore, was unsuitzble for a

L

symbol cut in stone.

The wording of the 1767 Law reaa:r"Selectﬁen of these towns to

erect and keep up mllestoneh, at lesut twvo feet high, near the side
.of the comuon traveling road marked with the distances from the

' County Town of the County whnre such Town lies." This statute was

rev1sed to rezd "County Court House." From the ouuset, the inscripw

tions on these statutory siones aubstltuted the word "to" in place

of "from" as in the ALct. Xor instance, a series of milestones wounld

have "2 Miles to
Hartford
. Court : S : ' :
" House" (See picture) The "to" conveys the element of di-

.-

recticn if the traveler is oriented. Iater the imscriptions would

orily give the number of miles in Romezn or Arzbic ard the initial

or roncgran of the County. town. (Wote: The stoneiin the picture is

-called the Silver Lane Store. It formerly stood on the right side

of the 0ld Revolutionzry Rozd cOming up from Lebanon through Bolton

Kotch to the.ferry landing in East Hartford. It was rensmed- Silver

" Xane in honor of the French under Rochambeau, who passed this wéy

-and paid for their forage and rations in silver coin, something un-
” . . .

known to the colonists during the sixth yéar of the Wer, 1781. Ro-

chambeau was to cross Connecticut by way of Hartford and Danbury to

join up with Washington at Yorktown that Oétober.)f

If the Erpbllrc sct of 1?57 friled to induce zn immediate and
colonyslae planting of roadside markers, it succeeded in fixing the_
ground rules for zll subsecuent milestone progrzms in Comrecticut.

From this date on, the official ssnction of the Establishment ex-

tended‘tq eny mileaze stone thay indiceted the gigtance to-ﬁhe




-Cpunty'Ccurt House. ‘Whether this.injUnction wag spélled'out or
implied, the emyhacls was on the alrectlvo "to." (Noteé: The
colonlal etonec alon* the old Post Road out of Few York Cify giver
thE*dlStaPCQ "irom" N. Y., poes 1bly a mlle to mile warning to the

traveler to turn b2ek?) Some Connectlcut mlleage stonesg glve tmo

:.‘M

dlstances in tne 1nscr1pt10n, the old Hrrtford, thchfleld Dan~
bury roadstones. g1¢e the dlstance to both Hartford and New York;
In ;he eastefn part of the state, the Wyndhém stones tell the
mileage to Wyndham and Bostoﬁ.‘ |

- By the time the turnpike stones were to appear in such pro-

fu31on, four decades after the 1767 Act, the American tradition of

- —travelinz on the right side of the road had been firaly entrenched

throuﬁhout Cenrecticut, and it ghould cowé 28 no surprise to learn
. _that the 1ruerbletat10n of "{o" as the correct 1ntent of the 1767
Actiled to the adoption of the custor of keeplr? to the right on

American roads.

»

As a consecuence of the customn of planting mlleqtoneq along the
Tight side of the traveling road, the wayfarex could reach the
Courty town, if he kept the mileaze markers on his own right side,

:and, like his aCth century counterpart he was more interested in

_ where he was going to than’ where he was coming from. - The modern,
gall-purpcse, illumirated highway sign has'very little in common

w1th the isolated stone 1andﬂar standing beside the o0ld high road.

It would be very dlrflcult to eﬂtlmﬂte the number of mileztones
plented in accordance with the Act of 1767, the Lzw was dlrectorv'
ratner than mgndauorj, 1e9v1n3 tne emnl»cewent pellcs up to the

1nd1v1dual villages and towns. Cne of the best exsmples of stones
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still reozinink on their original sites is to be seen in the Town
- . Py ) - ’
of Farmington. Four of the original series, Nos. XI, X, IX, and

VIII, are to be found on the right side of the College Highway and

_Routé 4 in the center of the town. ?hey gtond two feet above the

ground ana ére of the Qandctone material.

At one p01vt in the research Jor this study, it wes truly be-

11eved thst some general dletlnctlon might be drawn between the use

~of the cla851cal Reman nuzerals or the Arabic. It wes thought thut

the 1757 stcnes might carry the forwer, and the turnpike stones the.

latter; however, the unicue chafacter of the siones ﬁrecluded eny
such simple foruula, each plantédtion was a rule unto itself.

| Despite'an inbred Custom and the encouragemept of a new Law,

the milestcne population ihc:easeé very.siowly in the latter half of
the 1700's. No sense of urgency developed until. the locai (intra-

state) qtogecodch corpanleq saw in the mllea5e marker a convenlient

'method for computing coach fgreﬁ. The through stages (1nt°rstate),

Bostbn; Hartford, New Haven, and Hew3York,‘paid no attention to
loéal mi}e?tcrem in their arithnetié- their unit charges were ad-
Justed to a Drmnc;pwl -town-~ to«prln01pal tcwn cchedule. ’

‘ Around the turn of the centur;, IQOC Thaddeus S;kec of Suffleld

operated a2 local staze line from the Masgs achucetta btorder to Wind-

sor via New‘Hertford. Some years 220 an invoice from the Town of

Suffield to Sikes was found, dated Cctobder 2C, 1812.

Agzinst the background of time this rare document sheds 303e'
lignt on two important aspects“o; the m1les$one legzey. PFirst, it
illustrates the fact that the placiﬁg gf mileage stones was a se~

condary matter in the operations of both the stage lines znd the
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turnpike corporations. These highway users were in business long
before they got around to erectiné milestones aléng their rights Qf
way. Carriage rates and toli chafges had. been fixed from the in-
.beptian of the enterprises., Had it ﬂot‘been for fhe:existing mile-
. stone traﬁition,'%hese entrépreneurs'ﬁight ha%e_chosenusoﬁe other
-symbol to dlgnlfy their ralsons d'etre. | |

Seconaly, the Suffield 1nv01ce prov1des the fqut Offlclal re-

cord as to the actual cost of a milestone plantatlon. Prev1qusly,
Provision 2 of the 1767 Act had imposed a penalty of 57.00Lfor each
stone the local selectmen of the towns had failed to put‘in place;
however, this strlcture met with characterlqtlc indifference, and
the plantutlon vere not made untll they "got good and ready.'

| The -Sikes bill 11ﬂted the amcunt of 311.3% for seven stones, at
8 shillir gs-eacn plus an overall charge of $2.00 for cuttlng and
painting. The 8 shiliings,($l.33) per stone raises the Question of
the date Qf,emplacement, The‘U;‘S. Silver Doller was_authofized'in .
1?é2.and minted in'179%. 'How long aftef this date the shiiliﬁg,re-
mained legzal tender iS‘not recérded  but-if would seem to irdicate
that the planuatlon occurred be*ore the year of the 1rv01ce, 1812.,.

* The records of the 0ld Flddlesex rpurnplke Gompany (Old Saybrooky,
Chester, Middletown, znd hetherrfleld) disclose that it paid @216 OO
for 35 stones (41 to 6 irclusive), this cost broke down to $158.00 |
for the actual stones, $26.C0 for cutting and painting, and $32.C0
for messuring and plaﬁting, or_$6.00 each. The placenments were
made in 1822, twenty years after the ceryération was formed in 1802;

-The mosgt fro ific ldantmg of mllestoneq probzably occurred

during the years 1800-18&0. It is entlmgted that routhly seventy
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‘ per cent of the "orlglnal 6co" stonec were set in place on orders

of the turnpike conpanies durlng thlS perlod.

The turnpikes in that era were located at the company's princi-
pal plzce of business, the toll houne or toll booth. These pikes,
whisghelther raised llke those 2t the modern grade croﬁalng, or

swung =g a gate, barred progress along the. road from both directions
: ]

until a fixed toll had been exacted; The unit tolls vere set by

the. compﬁnie; themselves and were usually based on the principle of-
"all the traffic will bear." _ ‘
Turn their pikes as they would, notbing could sfby the Qpreﬂd-
. of the Connecticut “shunpikes," (11tera11y, shun the plkeqtaff )
These coarse and uneven back trails led away from the main highroad
some dlstance ahead of the toll vafe and, plunglrg thr cugh the -
w1lderreos, circled the toll booﬁh rejoining the hlghway at a re-
spectable dlatance beyond pnd out of sight of the ﬂateneeper.
Hhutever uqeful purpose theee shunplkes served theJ were rotlce
to the turnpike compznies that thelr corporete 1mage was in need of
& new profile. Somethlng had to te done to allay the rising re- -
sentment agalnst the unfettered private monopolv of the publlc way.
Fany users felt thnt they were not getting thelr "two bits worth,"

the blt was a smell coin, vplue 12%2, based on the 1785 Dollar,

_Pieces of eight.) It cost one bit for 2 single horseé and surrey %o

vass through the turnpike and another bit for the return trip, no

'diqcounts,-frir ze or no fringe. The publlc relztions officer, pro-

bably the gatekeeper had =2 ready answer at band, milestones. The

. 1dea of rcadside mlleage marﬁerﬁ ceught on and the period of turn-

pike company plantatlons wag under way.




C ey -

- ) -16-

Hopes were high that fhese novel, well-shaped, -and clearly-
incised stcnes, standing along the righf side of the road marking

off the measured mile, might create'a nystique that would justify

& continuation of the turnpike franchise. In truth, they were little
‘more than window dressing and.statﬁs symbols, as they had nothing
to do with the calculation of the corporations' already-established

. o [ ' .

toll charges. TFor vhatever reasons the turnpike corporations may

have had for érecting these landmarkes, Connecticut history has been
enriched by these public gestures. |

" Litchfield County, situated in the northwest section of the old

colony, has the largest nuibef of the remaining Proprietary stones.

- ~

One hesitates to ascribe any particular resson for this crop of

- unigue wmarkers, but when it is remembered that the county was get-

tled by femilies from other pzrts of Connecticut,. the traditional
pattern emerges; the first colenists merely continued the cusfom
of milestone emplacement. H-' o | |

FPlanted at ﬁgrsonal expense and béariﬁg the'individual's_naﬁe
and a date, these-Proﬁrietary stones are to be distinguished as a
class frem the Colonial and other miscellaneous markers. in that they
confoerm to the general design and are integrated with other stonesr
in the coﬁnty. |

Cne of the finest milestcnes in Conmecticut belongs té this
ciass. This stone made of white marble can be secen in the front
wall of the Litchfield Savings Bank bearing the inscription:
33 Miles to
Hart{ord ’ :

e o+ 102 Kiles to . R R

o e New York . . : '

y J. Strong
4.D.1787

-
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The hephazard plentings led to diversity in size, shape, choice

of_‘tbﬁe used, and a disresard for any7aftempt at uniformity;' Thus,
there is no so~called Connecticut mileetone in the sense that one
‘would see the saze kind of mile marxer throughout the Stzte. If _
there is a Connecticut type of mllestone, it would have t0 be of‘thégrr
red sandstone from therouarrlea around Portlané Conrectlcut.' Theqe
are usually. about 40 to 50 inches long w1th 20 to 30 1nchec above
ground level. They are, as a rule, 9 to 11 inches across the_face
and about 3 to 6 inches thick. The insciptions vary from planting
to plantirv Some use Roman numerals, some have the’Arablc wlth ‘the
”M“ for miles and 1etters of 81mllar al/e for the 1n1t1a1e of the
Courthouse or Town ahezd. All mllevtones were put in on the right
side of the road depending upon the direction ofithe County town.

Cn some seriés the initial of the Countj town would be found at the
top céntre of the stcne;.’On others it might be tHe-humber of miles
inscribed in that top centre position. However, often the informa-
t1on wzs all on a-line mldWay between ground and tOp with the mlleaqe

at the left ~1de, “F" next, and ﬁhen the 1n1t1a1q of the particular

County. town.'

" This red szndetone, really = reddish bfown, weighin& from 100
to 300 pounds, hac kept in an uprlgnt position by buttre sing'with
- other reck below ground level. It was not eazsily removed from the
Horiginal gite, unless a deliberate attempt was made to displace it.
Floodé 6aused gome losses, otherwiée it would ;eqﬁire a block and
tackle operation.

Bzck in iSOO it wds ﬁredictable iﬁat water seepage might cause

‘some of these chunks of sandstone and granite to subside, but the
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on tbe highways was entirely unforseesble. .During,théir-useful
period, no doubt, stepé were taken to arrest the sinking_process;
-~—but after 1850 ard wp to the present day, their preservation has
been left to 1na1v1dua1 exertions Others have disapreéred forever,
ralthough e-~0r1e may ve re&cued one day. The Sllvﬂr Lane Mlleqtone
now in the Old State House Muceum at Furtford was fortunately res-
cued by Dr. Howard Haylett frow COﬂplete Qubcldence on 1te orlglnal
51te in Eaet Hartford.
By 1840 milestones had come of age and they were important,_yet‘
the end was near as to their useful life. Public reaction t0 feudai
“$011 practices and indifference to rozd maintensnce of the turnpike
corperations, conbined with tha.coming éf the "Qtéam'car? and the
-steanchip, brought about a ahlft away from-highw way, travel. ?rom this
- time on, the rugged cywbol of the meacured mlle beaan to loce its
impo“tance and to venish from the publlc scene, but there are scores
of them still restlng on the or1g1na1 sites, a steadfast.remlnder
of their place in the scheme of events. The erosion by exposuré'to
‘the four seasons during tbg past generétions hés defaced'somé, thé,
attrition of time has ravaged others, but'disaétrbds‘floOds and the
'actién of man ané inachineq havé brought about the greatest dispersal
‘and renoval from their ancient lmﬂlace zents. Man and his machines
can be pertially absolved of blame, because 1t is the nature of the
-stones fhémselves thet lies =t the root of the mysterious disap-

pearances.

Cver the years mzny of the teller.snd thinrer stones were broken
, _ ;

'by aceident and cast away, because néo one recognized what they

. effectslef latersl vibration set up by the pounﬁing of heavy traffic

“
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rebresented. Yet there is no record of any éeliberate destruction,
¥ore often they were used to renair'buildinv foundztions, since they

were most suitzble for such purpose, snd there muct be numercus in-

_stances of other such deployment.

The exigencies of roao reallgnrent highway cons trucﬁion along -

'the old turnnlke, and other relocztion of the zain =tre¢m of ﬁrﬁvel

»

have been the greateqt dlcruptlve factor in the dlslodcment of theqe
ancient monuments, but many still remain on their former sites. It
may be a revelation to meny that in the face of inevitable éxtincﬁ
tion the Connecticut Bureau of Highways hzs been the‘moqt censtant
and consmstent rrotector and guardlan of these 01d landmarks. |
Charged with the duty of creﬁtln& new publlc rezds and malntﬂlﬁlng‘
the 01d, it has been the least-heralded conservator of these his-
toric rozdside markers. - - - . |

So many of the miiestones have been removed for one réason or
another that it is hard to foretell just where they zre today. In
sections cf the State where-super~highwéys or floeds have overtsken
the older roeds, the educzted guess is little help and the loczl
resident remzins the better 1nformant..‘Fafriotic groups. have saved * .-
somé of the markers by imbedding them-in_hisﬁoric_memorials; For
instance, the Sabra Truumbull monumzent in Vernon, Connecticqt, marks
the site of the "6 Mile, mollana Courfhouee" stone. The nuznber of
unreccrded individusl concervatorq is legion ?nd a genuzne effort is

now belnv und»rtaken'to canvass the entire State to learn and ackrow—‘

ledge the locations of these footnotes of the past.

This story begins and ends in the. Constitution Stzte. Connec-
. - - . i

ticut families emigrating to the Wyoming Valley of Pehnsylvania,




~Héw.Connectigu%‘(Vermont, the 1hth State), and the Western Reséfve-
- and Fire Larnds of Ohio hzd more préssing considefatiops; _The'tra—

ditions of mile stone plantation and the village greeh were left
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+ . ° . EPILCGUE
Traditiog in'Ccnneéticut'hes a'tenécibus éuality that outlasts
the winds of change. Acting upon thé Statute of 1784 (Milestones
T to be.RéSet,,Revised,'1963, Public Aéfs 226, Section 37), Governor
'"”“iDémpeey“in Jure; 197¢C, aﬁthofized the Sfate Highway Departmeht to
-conduct a statewide census of all the naimed, brohen and m1s51ng
milestones within. 1ts Jurlsdlctlo“. Luc;lle M. FPox, Llalson ofilcer;
Division of Conaervatlon and Preservatlon, was given the overzll di-
rection of the restoration and replacement rrogram.

The Forwich District (No. 2) was the first of the four areas
to,be sﬁrvéyed. This district éovers 21l of ?astern Connecticut,
and it was discovered thét 148 out of %hé original 240 would have to
be replaced. Time hzd taken its tqll,'pérticulaply-along the 014 -
Middle Rozd. By tre end of August*last year, 45 replica stones had
been delivered and were rezdy for resetting. In the Hartford Dis-
trict (Eo; 1) fhe-recent.survey réveals that only 44 of.the 166 '
stones are left in plazce, severzal in ﬁery poor condition. New Haven
District (No. 3) and Litchfield (Fo. Y4) are scheduled to be surveyed
in.19?2 end 1973 with restoration carried out the same years. '

’§When'the Highway District Engineers and Mrs. Fox dfew up speci-
fications for the repl&cementAmilestoneé based on an inventory of.
markeré exisﬁin? or misging, it wae.decided that the precervction of
the integrity of the colonial design should outweigh all other factors.
After a prolonged gearch for sultable store mzterials and a quarry

to supply them, the nghway‘off;glals settled on pink and gray gran—-

ite as the mdot prﬁﬁtioﬁble vaﬁérial for the statewide restorztion

progran. With modern cuttlnc toole, replications on the rock of
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. ‘ages are preferable to reproductlonﬁ on the 1ess permanent sandstone.
The Hllectone story might be sald to have ceme full 01rcle on
pecpmher hth, 197C, when the mlsslng Hartfopd Qounty zero bench mark
wasireplaced withra'biass,diéc 3 inches in diameter, with the actual
~—~“berich merk in ite centé‘r.. Tt was fastened to the Tloor of the court-
'fw;wroom of the 1?96 State House. It ie;ﬁcw affixed'td'a épot in front
of the ola Two Mllestone of the Sllver Iane series in East Hartford.
Both cccupv a2 corner ucgether in the old Court Houﬁe, now the Cld
State House Museum, haln and Aeylum Streeus, Hartford. ‘
By the sutumn of 1972, all the replscnwept milestcnes should be
resettled =s nearly as p0Q51ble on the or1g1“a1 gites in the four
districts of the State. Highwsay reallnnment, serv1ce statlons, ard _
other cccupiers of the land may interfere‘with sOme of the restora-
tion, in which event, the stpne wiil be implaced—néar the former
site. A most lasting festamentrto;the integrity of'ﬁhe-ﬁhole,program
comes_from.a laay in Higganum, Qhé, uﬁon seeing the neﬁ_(Ql-Hartibrd
Milestone), declared, "I thought the culprit who had made away wifh :

it_had returned it." And, thet is what makes "mylestonlng in Con~

nectlcut'qo dellvnufully rewardlng.

EREEETER. ~¢
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